IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
- FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA .

Federal Tfade Commission,

Plaintif_f,
| v, : Case No.
~ Business.Card Experts, Inc., d/b/a BCE . Ol " = G "l I PIs / RLT

Media, Inc., a Minnesota corporation;
BCE, Inc., a Minnesota corporation; _
Scott R. Boardman, individually and as an

officer of Business Card Experts, Inc. and '
BCE, Inc.; and ’ RECEEVED
‘Stewart P. Grandpre, individually and as an N '
officer of Business Card Experts, Inc. and ' 0V-29 2006
BCE, Inc; - - ' U pisaRK
' -l MINNEAPOLS, I\;ls\:l?lgggTA
Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

| Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC” or z Commission”), for its
-complaint alleges:

- 1. The FTC brings this actién under Sections S(a), 13(b) and 19 of the
FTC Act, 15US.C. §§ 45(a), 53(5) and 57b, to obtain temporary, preliminary, anci
pefmahent injunctive relief, rescission of contracts, restitution, disgorgement,
appointment of a receiver, and other equitable relief for defendants’ violations of
Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and the FTC's Tréde Regulatibn

Rule entitled Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR” or “Rule”), 16 C.F.R. § 310.



IURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. - This Court has sub]ect matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 1337(a) and 1345, and 15 US.C. 8§ 53(b) and 57b This
action arises under 15 USC.§ 45(a)(1).

3. | Venue in the United States District Court for the District of
Minnes'ota is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

PLAINTIFF |
4. Plaiiiﬁff, the Federal Trade Commission, is an independent agency
of the Umted States Government created by statute. 15 U.S. C. 8§ 41 - 58. The
Commlssmn 1s‘charged inter aha w1th enforceme:nt of Section 5(a) of the FTC
Act,15US.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce, as Well as enforcement of the TSR, 16 C.F .vR. Part 310. The
. Commission is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own
attorneys; to enjoin vioiations of the FTC Act and the TSR in order to secure such -
equitahle relief as may .be appropriate in each case;_ and to obtain consumer
redress. 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b) and 57b.
| DEFENDANTS
5. Defendant Business Card Experts, Inc. (”Busihess Card Experts”), a
| Mirinesota corporationlwith its principal place of business at 6130 Blue Circle
Drive, Suite 300, Mimietorika, Minnesota 55343, promotes and sells business
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'opportunities in which purchasei's receivethe right to sell full-color business
cards and oiher print materials designed and manufactured by Business Card
- Experts or its contractors. At ail times material to this complaint, Business Card
vExperts has transacted business in the District of Minnesota. |

6. Defendant BCE, Inc. is a Minnesota eorporatiOn with its principal
- place of business at: 6130 Blue Circle Drive, Suite 300, Minneto_nka, Minnesota
556343. BCE, Inc. operates from the same location and has the sarne officers as
Business Card Exp'erts; At all times Inaterial to this cornplaint, BCE, Inc. has
transacted business in the District of Minnesota. | |

7. Defendant‘ Scoti R. Boardman (”Boardn’ian”) is the Chief Executive - |
Officer of Business éard Experts and a principal of BCE, Inc.- He is a resident of
Minnesota. At all tiines material to this complaint, actin»g alone or in concert with
others, Boardman has formulated, directed, controlled or participated in the acts
and practices of the corporate defendants, including the acts and practices set
forth in this eemplamt. He has transacted business in the District of Minnesota.

8. Defendant Stewart P. Grandpre (“Grandpre”) is the Pi'esident of
» Business Card Experts and a principal of BCE, Inc. Heis a resicienf of Minnesota.
At all times material to this complaint, acﬁng alone or in concert with others,

Grandpre has formulated, directed, controlled or participated in the acts and



practices of the corporate defendants, including the acts and practices set forth in

this complaint. He has transacted business in the District of Minnesota.

" COMMON ENTERPRISE
9. Corporate defendants Bﬁs:iness Card Experts and BCE, Inc.
(hereafter, “BCE”) have the same principals and telephone number, operate from
‘the same location, and have operated as a common enterprise while engaging in
the deceptive acts and practices and other violations of law aﬂeged below. -
Individual defen'dants'Scott Boardman and Stewart Grandpre have formulated,
directed, controlled of had authority to control, or participated in the acts and

practices of the corporate defendants that comprise the common enterpriSe.

COMMERCE

10. At al‘l‘ times relevant to this complaint, Defendants have maintained
a substanﬁal course of trade in the offering for sale and sale of business card
dealefsﬁip opportunities, in or affectjng commerce, as ”comrﬁerce” is defined in |
Sectjon 4 of the FTC Act, 15 USC § 44.

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES

11. ' BCE prints, designs, and sells business cards, brochures and other
print materials for businesses. Individuai defendants Grandpre and Boar‘dman
founded BCE in 2001, and began selling BCE buemess»card dealerships inor

around August of 2001.



12.  BCE dealerships are business .ventures in which purchasers pay an
- initial inVestment ranging fr.om $10,000} to $25,000 to BCE for the right to sell
color Busingss cards and other .print materials manufactured By BCE.

13.  BCE aggressively promotes and solicits purchasers for its
dealerships via teléphoné sales calls, on the Internet, and in print advertising
found in magazineé and,thg:,cléssifieds sections of both local and national
newspapers. BCE's adverﬁ_éemeﬁts claim that.purchésers bf their business card =
dealersfn’ps w111 eafn $150,000 in the first year of operation. For example, typical
BCE advertiSements state: | |

‘REPEAT INCOME

New product used by every
business. Residuals. $10k
inv. req. Returns $150K 1st

A
800-330-3684 Free Video.

and

BCE Business Opportunity Information:
Earn $150,000+ residuals 1* Year
Join America’s Hottest & Fastest Growing
~ Business
$$Huge Residual Income!!!
- Be Your Own Boss...Own a Dealershlp
Today
We're Changing the Billion-Dollar Business
Card Industry Overnight!!! . .. |
- We'll send you a FREE Information
package and CD overview of the business.



14. BCE Curréntly offeré three levels of dealerships, with each more
éxpensivé level pufporting to proVide fnore extensive savings and se’rvices.‘ For
an investment of $10,000, prOsi)ective dealers can purchasevt'he "Stgndard

| Dealership,” which éntitles them to production costs of $24.95 for each box of 500
business cards. For $19,995, prospective dealers can purchase the “Master
Dealership,” which}includes‘ training at BCE's headquarters, reduced production
costs of $19.95 per box, as well as free Web site design and two sales kits for

‘additional saléspeople. For $24;995, BCE's “Master-Plus Dealership” includes
everything in the Master Dealership plus production costs of $14;95' per box.

15. Consumers whé call BCE's advertised toll-free number receive a
return phone’ call fr;)fn a telephone sal.es represehtaﬁve working for BCE. During
the“ course of this i:niﬁal salés pitch or in subsequent telephone sales calls with
prospective purchasers, thé telephone sales represehtative working for BCE

| mai(es oral representations ébout the earnings potential of the business venture,

including, for example, that prospective purchasers can earn six-figure incomes,
fecoup their investment within three to five months’ time, and that most BCE
dealers are very successful.

16. Following the irﬁtial telemarketing pitch, proépecﬁve purchasers

‘receive a CD- ROM video and written materials that confirm the earlier



representations made by BCE that its dealerships are highly profitéble and"»
successful. -

17. | In the video, BCE foundei's and owners, 'Grandpre and Boardman,
reinforce the success and hlgh earnings representations made by BCE's sales
representatives and other marketing materials. For example, Grandpre claims
that BCE signed up 1 ;700 customers durihg its first year in the Minneapolis
rﬁarkét, with one}sales representaﬁve signing up over 900 businesses in his first |
- year. In addiﬁon, the video repeatedly features BCE diStribﬁtor Carol Sutton,
whd claims earnings of “between $3,500 and $4,600 net per month.”

| 18.  The written méterials include a sheet entitled “ Answers to
Questio’ns,”y Whiéh states, “If you genérate $100,000 or $700,000 or $1,0C0,000 you

”
!

keep all the profits!” The written materials élso include “Income Projection
Spréad Sheets” ‘for each of the three types of dealerships-available for purchase,
which estimate that dealers can make anywhere from $140,400 to $217,800 per
yeér, depending on whethér the dealér employs additional commiéssioned
salespeople. These Income Projecﬁon Spread Sheets contain the following
disclaimer: “The examples above are projections only and not guaranteed

results. Each Dealer may obtain various results reflected by their own abilities.”

Nevertheless, BCE and its telephone sales representatives make repeated



representaﬁéns to prospectivé purchasers concerning the purportéd actual or
potential sales, Costs,"income, or profits of their business c‘ard deaigrships.

19. . In fact, the earnings representations madg by BCE are false and
nﬁsleading. | |

ZO. " Once a prospective dealer shows any intereét in the business
-opportunity, a telephone séles fepresentaﬁve working for BCE repeatedly
contacts prospectivé purchasers by phbne to try to sell a dealership. BCE
: fepresentaﬁves "gell prospective purchasers that.tﬁey must act quickly to buy a
deale;ship, usually within one to two weeks of receipt of the sales materials, in
order vto take advantage of a special 7’promoﬁon” that is being offered by the
company for a liﬁﬁ’;ed time. In fact, this supposedly special promotion is
ongoing and is used to rush prospective purchaseré into buying a deélership.

21.  According to the terms of BCE’s promotional offer, new dealers will
rééeive a certain number of “free” boxes of printed business cards for a specified |
period of time, ranging frofn two to four months. BCE sales representatives use
this promotion as an ”un—adverﬁsed money back guaréritee,” and repreéent that
:néw dealers will be able to sell all of these free boxes of cards, thereby recouping
their enﬁre iljiﬁal investmenﬁ In fa;t, the Eénefits of this promoﬁoﬁ are illusory,

as new dealers are unable to sell enough business cards to recoup any significant



- portion of their conéiderable investment.

22. In facfc, BCE has no reasonable basis for these success or ealjnings
representations, as the vast majbrity of BCE dealers fgil, and dQ nofc éam
significant profits from their business x}entures.

23 Telephone sales représentaﬁves working for BCE gain the}
confidence of prospective ,purchaéers by providing them with the names and
telephone numbers of purported “references.” BCE saies representatives also
claim, directly or by. implication, that these references are current BCE dealers
who will provide an accurate description of their experience as BCE dealers. BCE
sales representa’.cive'syclaim, directly _of by implication, that the experiences of
these purported ref(;i;eﬁées are typical of BCE dealers. However; BCE'S
representations aboﬁt the references are false and misleading. In many instances,
the references are actually employed or compensated directly by BCE and do not
pfovide or represent the typical BCE dealership experience or earnings.

24.  BCE, together with its sales representatives and purported
references, represent to prospective purchasers that, if dealers WOrk at their
 business full time, they can obtain orders fof business cards from an average of

‘three to five customérs per day. In truth and in fact, purchasers who buy a

'd‘ealers'hjp fail to obtain even a fraction of this number of customers per day and -



often hav‘e few of no customers after weeks, and even months, of dperatingtheir
dealership full time.

25. . BCE has no reasonable basis for its earnings repreéentations, falsely
represents that dealers will earn $150.,000 in their first year of operaﬁoﬁ, and that
the majoﬁty of consumers who pu?éhase BCE dealerships have profitable and

: sﬁccessful dealerships. |

26.  BCE falsely represents that its references _cém and will prdvide :

accurate and reliable accounts of their BCE dealefship experiences and

‘ misrepreseﬁts material aspects of its investment opportunity.

~VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE FTC ACT
_ 27.  Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or
deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.”

COUNT1!

Misrepresentations Regarding Income

28; AY In numerous instances in the course 6f offering for v's.ale and selling
their business card dealerships, Defendants or their employees or agents, directly
or mdirectly, represent, expressly or by implication, that consumers who
purchase the Defeﬁdants’ bﬁsiness card dealerships are likely to earn substantial
income.

29. In truth and in fact, consumérs who purchase Defendants” business
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card dealerships are not likely to earn substantial inCorhe. .

30. Therefore, Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 28
. are false and misleading and constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of
Section 5(aj of the FTC Act, 15 US.C. '§ 45(a).

COUNTII

Misrepfesentaﬁons Regardihg Dealer-Referehcés
31.  Innumerous instances, in the ceurse-df offéring for sale and selling

. their business card dealerships, Defendants or their employees or agents, directly
or indirectly, represeht, expressly or by implication, that certain dealer-references»
~ are independenf and can ‘or will provide seliable, uhbiased, or typicalv
descriptions of the BCE dealersl'lip experience and earnings.

32. | In truth and in fact, in nﬁmerous instances, the references and other
individuals are employed or compensated directly by Defendants, are nof
independeht, and do not provide reliable, unbiased, or typical deseripﬁons of the
BCE dealership experience ahd earnings.

33 .Therefore, Defendants’ representat'ions as set forth in Paragraph 31
are faIse and misleadihg and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of
Sectioh 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 US.C. § 45(a).

'THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE

34. Cengress directed the FTC to prescribe rules prohibiting abusive and
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deceptive telemarketing acts or practices pursuant to the Telemarketing and
Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108
(“Telemarketing Act”). On Aﬁgust 16,1995, the FTC adopted the TSR, 16 C.E.R.
Paft 310, which became effective on December 31, 1995 (“Original TSR”). On
January 29, 2003, the FTC issued a Statement of Basis and Pui‘pose and an
amended TSR (’) Amended ,TSR.”) with the amendments relevant to this
Complaint becoming effective on March 31, 2003. 68 Fed. Reg. 4580, 4669.
Defendants’ activities occurring prior to March 31, 2003 are governed by the
Original TSR. Their aeﬁ\;iﬁes Voccurring from March 31, 2003 to the present are |
governed by the Amended TSR -

35.  Both the Original TSR and the Amended TSR prohibit
: nﬁsrepreser‘ltations by sellers or telemarketers, directly or by implication, of “any
material aspect of an investment opportunity iil_cludiné, but not limited to, risk,

- liquidity, earnings potential, or profitability.” 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vi).

36, - Both the Original TSR and the Amended TSR also prohibit sellers or
telemarketers from Hﬁsreéresenﬁng, directly or by implication, “any material
aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central charactefieﬁce of goods or
services that are the subject of a sales offer.” 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iii).

37.  Both the Original TSR and the Amended TSR also prohibit sellers or-
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telemarketers from “making a false or misleading staterﬁent to induce any person:
to pay fo'r‘_gqods or services.” 16 CFR § 310.3(a)(4).
- 38. Defendants are "éé}lers” or “telemarketers” ehgaged in
| "telemarkéting,’; as thosé terms are defined in the Original TSR, 16 CFR §§
310.2(), (t), and (u), and the Amended TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(z), (bb), and (éc). '
| 39. Defendants’ busiﬁess card dealership is an ”investﬁent
opportunity” as defined in Section 310.2(j) of the Original TSR, 16 CF.R. §
310.2(j), and fs a business 6pportunity or ”investmeﬁt opporturlify” as defined in
Section 310.2(p)‘ of the Amende TSR,16 CER. § 310.2(p).
40. Pursuantto Secﬁon 3(c) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 USC. §
6102(c), and 'Sectionullé(d)(?)) of the FTC Act, 15 US.C. § 57a(d)(3), violations of
the TSR constitute uﬁfair or decéptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce, |
in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act,15US.C. § 45(a). |
41. Defendants’ acts and practices are no"r exempt from the Original TSR
un‘der 16 CF.R. § 310.6(e), or from the Amended TSR under 16 CFR §
310.6(b)(5), Which exclude certain calls initiated by customers in response to
advertisements other than direct mail solicitations. The Originél TSR exemption |
does not apply to customer-initiated calls in‘response-to advertisements for

: ”inveéhﬁent opportunities,” 16 C.F.R. § 310.6(e), while the Amended TSR
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exemption does not apply to calls a customer makes in response to

‘advertisements for “investment opportunities” ’and business oppbrtunities not

" covered by.the Fraﬁchise Rule. 16 CF.R. § 310.6(b)(5). Calls made by customers
in reép'onse to Defendants’ advertisexﬁents regarding its business opportunity are
not exempt from the Original TSR or the Amended TSR because Defendants’

- dealérship is an investment oppo_rtunity br a business oppdrtun_ity not covered

| by the Franchise Rule. | |

VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE

COUNT It

Misrepresentaﬁohs of Material Aspects of an Inv.estment Opportunity

42. . In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing their
business card venture, Defendémts or their employees or-agents‘ have, directly or
indirectly, misrepresented the risk, earnings potential, and profitability of their
busineés card dealerships by, among other things, falsely claiming that
purchasers of Defendants’ ‘businevss card venture wﬂl earn ox}er $100,000 per year
and recoup thé_ir inveétments within three to five months.

43.  Defendants have thereby violated Section 310.3(a)(2)(vi) of the

Original TSR and the Amended TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vi).

COUNT IV
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- Misrepresentations of Material Aspects of Goods or Services Sold

. 44, Innumerous instances, in connection With telemafkeﬁng offers to
- sell their business card venture, Defendants or their employees or agents have,
directly or by implicaﬁoh, fniérepreséﬁted material aspects of the performance,
efﬁCaéy, hature, or central characteristics of'tvheir business card dealerships by, '
among other things, falselyv clairfﬁng that pUIChasers of Defendants’ business
Card yénture will earn over $100,000 per year, recoup ’:ch'eir investments within
, threve to five months, and that Defendants’ dealer-feferencesare independent
purchaéers of Defendants’ business card venture who can and will provide
reliable, unbiased or typicalkdesc’riptions of the BCE dealership experience and
éarm'ngs. |

45. Defendants have thereby vidlated Section 310.3‘(a)(2) (m) of the
Original TSR aﬁd the Amended TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(ii).

COUNT V

Misrepresentatidns to Induce Payment for Goods or Services
| .46. ‘In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing offers to.
sell their Business card venture, Defendants or their employees or agents have |
madé false or misleading statements to induce consumers to pay for their
business card dealerships by, among other things,‘faisely claiming that

purchasers of Defendants’ business card venture will earn over $100,000 per year,
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récoup their investments within three to fiﬁe mbnths, and that Defendants’
déaler—réferences are indeperident purchasers of Defendants’ business card
venture who can and will providé reliable, unbiased or typical descriptions of the
BCE dealefship e#pel;ience and earnings.

47. Defendants have thereby violated Section 310.3(a)(4) of the Original
TSR and the Amended TSR, 16 CFR. §3103(a)(4).

CONSUMER INJURY

48. Consumers throughout the United States have suffered and continue
to suffer substantial monetary loss as a result of Defendants’” unlawful acts and
practices. In addiﬁop, Defeﬁdants have been vu:njustly_ enriched as a result of their
unlawful acts and'p1:éctices. Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants
are likely to continue to injure consumers; reap unjust enrichment, and harm the
public interest.

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF

49. | Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 USC. § 53(b), empowers this Court
to grant injunctive and othver ancillary relief, including consumer redress,
disgorgement and restitution, to prevent and remedy any viOiaﬁons of any
pro§ision of law enférced by the Federal Tréde Commission.

| 50 Section 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.S 57b, authorizes this Court to

grant such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers or
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other persons resultlng from the defendants’ violations ef the Telemarkehng
Sales Rule, mcludmg the rescission and reformatlon of contracts, and the refund
~of money. | |
'51.  This Cmi‘rtr in»the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction, may award
anc1llary rehef to remedy 1n]ury caused by the defendants’ law violations.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

‘WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission, pursuant'td Sections
lS(l:)) and 1910f the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b) anel 57b, and the Court’s kown
equitable powers, requests that the Court:

‘1. ’A:ward Plaintiff such _prellrninary injunctive and ancillary relief as
‘ may be necessary te avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency
of this action and to preserve the p0551b111ty of effective f1nal rel1ef including, but
not limited to, a temporary restrainmg order, asset freeze, and appointment of a
‘receiver;

2. Enler a permanent injunction to prev»ent future violations of the FTC
Act and the Telemarketing Sales Rule by Defendants;

3. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to
consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act and the
Telemarkeﬁng Sales. Rule, including but not limited lo, rescission of contracts,
| resﬁmﬁon, the refund of lnolﬁes paid, and the dlsgorgement of lll-gotten gains;
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and

4. Award plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such

. other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

WILLIAM BLUMENTHAL
General Counsel

%j ;42“2%{@@@5 : :
KAREN S. HOBBS (D 3Bar No. 469817)

TRACEY L. THOMAS (DC Bar No. 490253)
Attorneys for Plaintiff
" Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Washington, DC 20580
Telephone: (202) 326-3587
Facsimile: (202) 326-3395
E-Mail: khobbs@ftc.gov
tthomas@ftc.gov

GREGORY GYBROOKER . -
Assistant United States Attorney

Atty. Reg. No. 166066

Dated: November 28, 2006

Dated: November 28, 2006

United States Attorney for the District of Minnesota

600 U.S. Courthouse _
300 South Fourth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55414 .
(612) 664-5627
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